

CONSTITUTION

of the

NEWFOUNDLAND AND LABRADOR ASSOCIATION OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE EMPLOYEES

BIENNIAL CONVENTION 2023

INDEX

1 (I) Name, Power and Location.....1 2 (II) Objectives.....1 3 (III) 4 Governing Authority......10 (IV) 5 (V) 6 (VI) Officers.....15 7 (VII) Meetings......21 (VIII) 8 9 (IX) 10 Funds......23 (X) 11 (XI) 12 (XII) 13 (XIII) 14 (XIV) APPENDIX A

Article

Page

ARTICLE I - NAME, POWER AND LOCATION

1.	Labra	The name of the organization shall be the Newfoundland and Labrador Association of Public and Private Employees (NAPE), hereinafter referred to as the Union.			
2.	(a)	over rules contr Loca mone gene	Union shall have and possess exclusive jurisdiction all the affairs of the Union and may enact Articles, and regulations for its own management and rol and that of its Negotiating Components and ils and to borrow, raise or secure the payment of ey in such manner as the Union may think fit and erally to mortgage, charge, hypothecate or pledge any of the Union's property, both present and future.	Powers	
	(b)	Cons of the	re a dispute arises over any interpretation of this stitution between Triennial Conventions, the Office e President of the Union will be deemed to have interpretation.	Interpretation	
3.		The Union may, from time to time, adopt such badge or emblem as may be decided upon, with power to vary the same.			
4.	The business office and headquarters of the Union shall be Locatio located in the City of St. John's in the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador, specific location of which shall be determined by the Board of Directors.				
5.			npression whereof is stamped in the margin all be the Corporate seal of the Union.	Seal	
			ARTICLE II - OBJECTIVES		
1.	The purpose of the Union shall be: Pu				
	(a)	•	omote, foster and protect the interests and well-being e employees of:		
		(i)	the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador and all agents of His Majesty in Right of the Province;	Members- Employees	
		(ii)	all boards, corporations, commissions, or similar bodies (not being corporations or other bodies of		

authority managing privately owned hospitals) where the salaries or wages of such employees are paid either entirely or in the main from monies voted from time to time by the Legislature;

- (iii) any Crown Corporation as defined by the Crown Corporations Local Taxation Act, RSNL 1990, c. C-40, as amended;
- (iv) the Board of Commissioners of Public Utilities;
- (v) the WorkplaceNL;
- (vi) any hospital, whether privately owned or not, and any corporation or other body of authority managing any hospital, whether privately owned or not;
- (vii) any municipal government organized and/or existing under or pursuant to laws of the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador;
- (viii) any definable group or body of workers employed by any firm, corporation, partnership or individual performing work, or services on behalf of the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador or any of the authorities or agencies enumerated in paragraphs (i) to (vii) of this Section;
- (ix) any definable group or body of workers employed by any firm, business, partnership, individual, public authority, or private institution engaged in any industry, service or commercial enterprise where a majority of such employees have indicated their desire to be represented by the Union for the purpose of collective bargaining.
- (b) to ensure that all members are treated equally and fairly in Equal dignity and in rights without any form of hate, discrimination treatment or disrespect because of race, class, nationality, ethnic origin, social origin, religious creed, religion, age, disability, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, Marital status, or family status. We should neither condone nor tolerate any behaviour that undermines the dignity of any individual or creates an intimidating, hostile, or offensive environment. NAPE is fully committed to equity and inclusion.

(c)	to provide a medium for united action with respect to matters of common concern to the members as employees as referred to in paragraph (a) of this Article and as specifically defined and enumerated in paragraph 2 of Article III of this Constitution;	United action
(d)	to act as a representative body of the members for the purpose of advancing the general welfare of the said members as employees and the conditions of their employment; to obtain status as exclusive bargaining representatives of employees to improve wages, hours and working conditions through negotiated collective bargaining agreements; to process grievances and enforce all other rights arising out of the collective bargaining relationship; to publish and make available to members in print, electronically, social media and all other available communications platforms deemed relevant and suitable; to acquire,hold, lease and convey any real and personal property; to invest and reinvest its funds; to exercise all rights and privileges which may be necessary and convenient for the conduct of its affairs;	Representa- tive Body
(e)	to promote quality and accessible public services;	Public service
(f)	to affiliate, co-operate and make common effort with any organization when the best interests of the members are thereby thought to be served;	Affiliate
(g)	to promote, organize or take part in any activity that is in the interest of the members and to rent, borrow or purchase facilities to meet those objectives;	Facilities
(h)	to encourage, through charter locals, the establish- ment of inclusive educational, social, recreational and cultural programs and facilities for its members;	Programs
		Members
(i)	to do such other lawful things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the above objects, which may best promote the morale, the material and intellectual interests of the members.	well-being

2.

-3-

ARTICLE III - MEMBERSHIP

1.	Memb	pership in the Union shall be classified as follows:	Types
	(a) (b) (c)	active membership; associate membership; honourary membership.	
2.	Active	e membership shall consist of employees of:	Active members
	(a)	the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador and all agents of His Majesty in Right of the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador;	Employees of
	(b)	all boards, corporations, commissions, or similar bodies (not being corporations or other bodies of authority managing privately owned hospitals) where the salaries or wages of such employees are paid, either entirely or in the main, from monies voted from time to time by the Legislature;	
	(c)	any Crown Corporation as defined by the Crown Corporations Local Taxation Act, RSNL 1990, c. C-40, as amended;	
	(d)	the Board of Commissioners of Public Utilities;	
	(e)	the WorkplaceNL;	
	(f)	any hospital, whether privately owned or not, and any corporation or other body of authority managing any hospital whether privately owned or not;	
	(g)	any municipal government organized and/or existing under or pursuant to laws of the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador;	
	(h)	any definable group or body of workers employed by any firr corporation, partnership or individual performing work or services on behalf of the Government of Newfoundland and Labrador or any of the authorities or agencies enumerated in Paragraphs (i) to (vii) of Article II, Section 1 (a);	n,
	(i)	the Newfoundland and Labrador Association of Public and Private Employees (NAPE);	

	(j)	the National Union of Public and General Employees (NUPC	SE);
	(k)	full-time elected officers of NAPE; full-time elected officers of NUPGE;	
	(I)	any definable group or body of workers employed by any firm, business, partnership, individual, public authority or private institution engaged in any industry, service or commercial enterprise where a majority of such employees have indicated their desire to be represented by the Union for the purpose of collective bargaining.	
3.	(a)	Associate membership shall consist of employees who have retired and who are members in good standing.	Associate Members
	(b)	Members referred to in 3 (a) above would be governed by the Constitution in the same manner as all Union members excluding running and voting for the positions of President and Secretary/ Treasurer. The retiree delegates to NAPE's Convention shall be a maximum of ten (10).	
4.		arary membership shall consist of individuals who have med outstanding service to the Union.	Honourary Members
	The a	warding of honourary membership shall be as follows:	
	(a)	Any member may nominate an individual for honourary membership by forwarding a written summary of Union service to the Board of Directors.	
	(b)	The Triennial Convention shall only consider honourary membership upon recommendation of the Board of Directors and shall decide honourary membership by majority vote.	
5.	(a)	Honourary members shall be entitled to all benefits of the Union except the right to vote, to hold office and to become a delegate to a Convention of the Union.	Benefits
	(b)	Employees of the Union shall be entitled to all benefits including the right to hold the office of President of the Union and Secretary/Treasurer of the Union.	
	(c)	Except as provided in (b), employees of' the Union shall	

		not h Direc	ave the right to hold office on the Provincial Board of tors.	
6.	(a)	Unior	admission of any applicant to membership in the n (active or associate) shall be subject to the oval of the Executive Committee.	Admission
	(b)	(i)	Notwithstanding Article III, 3 (b), should any member of the Board of Directors be excluded, resign, or retire from the Union's bargaining units, they must immediately leave their position on the Union's Board of Directors.	Excluded
		(ii)	Following the Grievance and Arbitration Procedures, should any member of the Board of Directors be dismissed from their position by their Employer, they must immediately leave their position on the Board of Directors.	Dismissed
7.	and a time l	associa by the	(a) of this Article, dues to the Union for active te membership shall be determined from time to Triennial Convention on recommendation of the Board and such dues shall be payable to the Union.	Dues
	(a)	of the deter increa	y year in which a Triennial Convention is not held, dues e Union for active and associate members shall be mined by the Board of Directors and such dues ase will only be sufficient to meet the proposed budget e ensuing year.	
8.	(a)	Every ution	<pre>/ member is guilty of an offense against the Constit- who:</pre>	Offense
		(i)	violates any provision of this Constitution;	Provision
		(ii)	obtains membership through fraudulent means or by misrepresentation;	Membership
		(iii)	institutes, urges or advocates that a member of any Local should institute action in a Court of Law against the Union or against the Provincial Executive and Board or any of its Officers or against a Local or any of its members, in respect of any matter concerning the affairs of the Union or any of its Locals, without first exhausting all	Court action

	-7-	
	remedies through the forms of appeal provided in this Constitution;	
(iv)	advocates or attempts to bring about the withdrawal from the Union or any Local or any Local or any member or group of members;	Withdrawal Membership
(v)	publishes or circulates, either verbally or otherwise, among the membership false reports or misrepresentations concerning any member of the Union in respect to any matter connected with the affairs of the Union;	False reports
(vi)	works in the interest of any organization competing with the Union in a manner which is detrimental to the Union;	Competing organization
(vii)	fraudulently receives or misappropriates any property of the Union or any of its Locals;	Membership Discipline
(viii)	uses without proper authority the name of the Union or of a Local for soliciting funds or advertising;	Unauthorized Use of Name
(ix)	without receiving proper authority to do so, furnishes a complete or partial list of the membership of the Union or of any Local to any person(s) other than those whose official position entitles them to have such a list;	Membership list
(x)	wrongfully interferes with any Officer or any accredited representative of the Union in the discharge of their duties;	Interference
(xi)	circulates reports designed or calculated to injure or weaken the Union;	Injurious reports
(xii)	with a view to injuring the Union or a Local, or with a view to impeding the implementation of any policy, constitutionally formed, of either the Provincial Body or a Local, does any act contrary to the Constitution, or to the By-Laws of any chartered body or fails to do any act required of them by the said Constitution and By-Laws;	Offenses - Constitution & By-Laws

	(xiii)	refuses to respect a picket line during a legal Union strike.	Support - Legal strike
(b)	(i)	There shall be a Discipline Committee consisting of five (5) members in good standing, not members of the Board of Directors, two (2) of whom to be appointed from the outgoing Committee to promote continuity from year to year. These five (5) to be appointed for a term of two (2) years by the Board of Directors at the first Board Meeting following the Triennial Convention;	Discipline Committee Members
	(ii)	The Board of Directors shall be empowered to appoint such alternate or substitute members of the Discipline Committee as may be required from time to time where, for any reason, a member of the Discipline Committee cannot act.	Alternate or substitute members
(c)	be em compl receiv investi Discip	ct, to Article III, 8. (h), the Discipline Committee shall powered to investigate and rule upon such written aints of offenses against this Constitution as are ed by it; provided, however, that no complaint may be igated or ruled upon if it has not been received by the line Committee within ninety (90) days of the date whe fense occurred.	Powers
(d)	proced shall b	iscipline Committee shall establish its rules of dures and its decisions on matters of procedure be final and not subject to appeal or review by rt of Law or the Board of Directors.	Procedure
(e)	a Court of Law or the Board of Directors. The Discipline Committee shall, before finding upon any complaint, and after receiving all other evidence, afford any member, whose act is complained of, the opportunity of being heard and presenting evidence in respect of the complaint. A member shall be deemed to have had the opportunity of being heard and presenting evidence in respect of the complaint if they are given not less than seven (7) days' notice, in writing, of the time and place at which they may be heard, and present evidence together with a summary of the complaint and evidence against them. A member may be represented by counsel or any other person at such time.		Heard evidence

(f) (i) The Discipline Committee may reprimand, make **Penalties** an order for pre-estimated liquidated damages in consideration of the harm, damage and additional cost that their breach of the Constitution and By-Laws have caused the Association, fine, remove from office, suspend or expel any members who it rules has committed an offense against this Constitution. These orders may be assessed in any combination. Where a member is found guilty of an offense (ii) contrary to subsection III 8 (a) (xiii) of this Constitution, they are liable to an order for pre-estimated liquidated damages in the amount of \$1,000.00 and, in the case of a continuing offense, to an order of pre-estimated liquidated damages in the amount of \$1,000.00 each day or part of a day during which the offense continues. (iii) Each day or part of a day that a member refuses to respect a picket line during a legal Union strike contrary to subsection III 8 (a) (xiii) constitutes a new and separate offense. (g) The Discipline Committee shall deliver to the member its Notification findings, in writing, but shall, in no event, be required to of findings supply reasons for its findings. (h) (i) The finding of the Discipline Committee, Appeal except as hereinafter provided, shall be final and binding on the parties and not subject to review by a Court of Law. A member shall have the right to a review of the decision of the Discipline Committee by the Board of Directors by giving written notice of application for review to the Board of Directors not more than thirty (30) days after receiving the written finding of the Discipline Committee; The Board of Directors shall have full power to (ii) Alter amend, alter or vacate the decision of the findings Discipline Committee, but in no event, shall it exercise its authority hereunder unless it is satisfied that a substantial injustice has occurred;

	(iii)	The Board of Directors shall conduct its review of the Discipline Committee's findings at such time, in such places and in such manner as it shall in its absolute discretion, deem just, including the requiring of a report from the Discipline Committee. The Board of Directors shall afford the member the opportunity of presenting argument either by themself or through another in support of their application for review. A member shall be deemed to have had the opportunity of presenting argument in support of their application for review if they are given not less than seven (7) days' notice in writing of the time and place at which they may be heard;	Review by Board
	(iv)	The decision of the Board of Directors shall be final and without review of appeal and not subject to review by a Court of Law, and in no event, shall the Board of Directors be required to give reasons.	Board's decision final
(i)	here	notice of finding required to be given, or delivered, under shall be deemed to have been posted by tered mail to:	Notice - Registered Mail
	(i)	in the case of the Union, the Union Office in St. Johr	ı's;
	(ii)	in the case of a member, the last address of the member shown on the records of the Union.	
(j)	fine r and s	amount of pre-estimated liquidated damages or a referred to above shall constitute a legal debt shall be fully enforceable by way of civil proceedings e appropriate court of law.	Fine - Civil process
		ARTICLE IV - GOVERNING AUTHORITY	
		al Convention shall be the legitimate source of all the Union, and the Union's final Court of Appeal.	Authority Triennial Convention
Boar	d of Di	Inion is not meeting in Triennial Convention, the rectors shall be the governing body of the Union. of Directors shall exercise a vigilant supervision	Board - Governing body

1.

2.

over all matters which may affect the interest of the Union and endeavor to further any action decided upon by the Union meeting in Triennial Convention or such other action as it may deem advisable.

- 3. (a) The Component Conventions shall exercise authority in the following areas:
 - (i) election of member(s) to the Board of Directors representing the negotiating Components;
 - (ii) the election of Negotiating Teams;
 - (iii) resolutions relevant to their respective negotiating Components;
 - (iv) other matters specifically related to negotiating Collective Agreements, subject to the negotiating policy of the Union;
 - (v) the election of delegate(s) and alternate(s) to affiliated organizations.
 - (vi) Notwithstanding any of the above, where a Component consists of members covered by more than one (1) Collective Agreement, the election of Negotiating Teams and resolutions pertaining thereto shall be delegated to the members specifically covered by that Collective Agreement;
 - (vii) The Board of Directors shall be empowered to call meetings of any bargaining unit and such meetings may be given the authority to:
 - (i) elect Negotiating Committees;
 - (ii) deal with resolutions to deal with negotiating Collective Agreements.
 - (b) The staff and facilities of the Union shall be used by the negotiating Components in conducting negotiations.

Authority

Component Convention

Staff conducting negotiations

ARTICLE V - CONVENTION

A. Triennial

- The regular Convention of the Union shall be held every three (3) years, commencing 2027, and shall be known as the Triennial Convention which shall be a meeting of the Board of Directors and accredited delegates representing the Locals of the negotiating Components (hereinafter referred to as Locals) of the Union.
- 2. The Triennial Convention shall be held at a time and place to be decided by the Board of Directors.
- 3. The President of each Local, or in their absence, the Vice-President shall be a delegate to the Triennial Convention if they so desire; additional delegates ,if permitted by the following formula, will be elected in the manner outlined as per Article XII, 7.:

Locals with greater than one hundred (100) members shall be entitled to one (I) additional delegate for each one hundred (100) or fraction thereof. The membership in a Local shall be based on the highest census in the preceding twelve (12) months of the Triennial Convention, and whose dues have been paid and whose application cards have been received by Headquarters ninety (90) days preceding the Triennial Convention.

- 4. The Board of Directors may submit its own resolutions **Board** to a Triennial Convention. **Resolutions**
- 5. The President of the Union, or in their absence, a member of the Executive shall preside at every Triennial Convention of the Union whether special or general, provided, however, that in the absence of the President of the Union and all other Executive members or upon their refusal or failure to act, the Convention shall elect a Chairperson to preside thereat.
- 6. Members of the Union other than delegates may be **Members** present at any Triennial Convention.

Date

Time & place

President -

Chairperson

B. Component

1.	Regular Component Conventions of the Union shall be held within eighteen (18) months but not less than three (3) months before the Component's contract is due to expire. For Components that have more than one bargaining unit, Component Conventions shall be held within those time frames that the majority of Public Sector Components are to be held. Nothing in this Article prevents a bargaining unit, whose contract is about to expire, from meeting prior to a Component Convention, but the delegate formula will be consistent with a Component Convention. The President and Secretary/Treasurer shall be non voting delegates to all Component Conventions.	Date
2.	The Component Conventions shall be held at a time and place to be decided by members of the Board of Directors who are members of the respective Component and in conjunction with the Executive Committee.	Time & place
3.	The Board of Directors shall have the authority to divide the membership of the Union into negotiating Components and Locals.	Negotiating Components & Locals
4.	Delegates to Component Conventions shall be elected by members in the Locals at a duly constituted general meeting of the Local membership and elected in accordance with a formula prescribed by the Board of Directors.	Delegates
5.	The Chairperson of the Component Convention shall be elected by and from the voting delegates present.	Chairperson
6.	Resolutions to Component Conventions shall be submitted by Locals of that Component and by the Board of Directors.	Resolutions
7.	Members of a Negotiating Component, other than delegates, may be present at the Convention of their Component.	Members
8.	Special Component Conventions shall be called by the Executive Committee or Board of Directors at the request of thirty percent (30%) of the members of that Component.	Petition - Special Component Convention
С.	Special	
1.	The President of the Union upon written request of at least	Board Call

	twenty percent (20%) of the membership of the Union or three-quarters (3/4) of the Board, shall convene a Special Convention of the Union, at any time, providing thirty (30) days' prior notice of the date, time and place of such Convention is given to the Board of Directors and to the Locals of the Union, and the said notice is given within thirty (30) days of receipt of the written request.	Special Convention
2.	In the case of a Special Convention, delegates thereto shall be elected by the Locals in accordance with Article V. A. 3.	Delegates Special Convention
3.	At a Special Convention of the Union, the only business which may be dealt with shall be that which has been announced in the notice calling the Convention, except with the consent of three-quarters (3/4) of the delegates present.	Business Special Convention
D.	General	
1.	The traveling and subsistence expense of delegates and members of the Board of Directors attending a Convention shall be in accordance with the Union's travel regulations.	Traveling allowance
2.	Fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) of the combined total of accredited delegates to Convention and the members of the Board of Directors shall constitute a quorum at Convention and no business shall be transacted at a Convention unless a quorum is present.	Quorum
3.	Members of the Union shall bring matters before a Convention for consideration by means of resolutions submitted to and approved by the Local of the Union to which they belong.	Resolutions
4.	All resolutions for submission to a Convention shall be delivered to the Headquarters of the Union at least sixty (60) days prior to Convention date. Late resolutions may be considered by a Convention by vote prior to the commencement of the regular business of a Convention.	Resolutions Date of submission
5.	Subject to Section 4, copies of all resolutions to be submitted to a Convention shall be forwarded to the appropriate Locals of the Union at least thirty (30) days prior to the Convention date.	Resolutions Copies to Locals
6.	Unless otherwise required by the Constitution, every question shall be decided in a Convention by a straight majority vote of	Vote

those present and entitled to vote.

7.	The Chairperson, as a member of the Union, shall be entitled to vote on any question; in the case of a tie vote, the motion shall be deemed lost.	Chairperson Vote
8.	The Board of Directors shall give notice of the date for the regular Conventions, in writing, to each Local of the Union, at least one hundred and eighty (180) days prior to the Convention date.	Notice of date
9.	No error or omission in the content of any notice calling a Convention shall affect the status of such Convention or invalidate any thing done or passed thereat.	Content of notice
10.	Except with the consent of the Chair, no member who is not a delegate or a member of the Board of Directors shall speak to or address a Convention.	Attendance at Convention
11.	Only accredited delegates of the Locals and members of the Board of Directors shall be entitled to vote at a Convention.	Right to vote at Convention
12.	The staff of the Union may be permitted to attend any Convention of the Union with the approval of the President of the Union.	Staff services
13.	Each Local shall make out individual delegate credentials and shall mail or deliver the copy to be in the hands of the President of the Union at least sixty (60) days before the Convention which the delegate is to attend.	Delegate Credentials

ARTICLE VI - OFFICERS

A. Board of Directors

- 1. There shall be a Board of Directors which shall consist of: **Board**
 - (a) Six (6) Executive members constituted as follows: Executive
 President of the Union, Secretary/Treasurer of the
 Union, Eastern Vice President, Central Vice President,
 Western Vice President and a General Vice President
 who shall be female and responsible for women's issues.
 The Area Vice Presidents shall be nominated from and
 by the delegates of the geographic area.

(b)	Nine (and b	Regional	
(c)	Board	Members elected by Negotiating Components	Component
(d)	Three nomir area.	Area	
(e)	inclus Presic Presic	rder of precedence of the Executive Vice Presidents, ive of the General Vice President, Eastern Vice dent, Central Vice President, and Western Vice dent, shall be determined by the Board of Directors at t meeting after Convention.	Order of Precedence - Executive
(a)	of the	President of the Union and the Secretary/Treasurer Union shall be elected at large by the total active pership.	Election - President & Sec/Treas.
	(i)	For the election of President and Secretary/Treasurer of NAPE, the candidate who receives a simple majority shall be the candidate deemed elected.	⁻ Simple Majority
	(ii)	All other rules and procedures for conducting the election of President and Secretary/Treasurer of the Union shall be determined by the Board of Directors.	Rules & Procedures
(b)	the No Secre the Ro	bers shall be notified through appropriate means as to otice of Election for the offices of the President and tary/Treasurer, along with access to a summary of ules and Procedures for such an election, twelve (12) is prior to the end of the term of office(s).	Notice of Election
	shall a prepa The to not ex than t	lection process determined by the Board of Directors allow sufficient time for the nomination of candidates, ration of and the notification of voting by members. total time for the nomination and election process shall acceed sixty (60) days and shall be completed no later hirty (30) days prior to the term of office concluding as rticle VI. 3. (a).	Election Process
(c)	electe	General Vice President and their alternate shall be ad at large by the delegates at the Triennial ention.	Election General Vice President

- 2.

The three (3) Area Vice Presidents, three (3) Area Board Members and the nine (9) Regional Board Members and their alternates shall be elected by the delegates from their respective geographic area. All Area and Regional elections shall take place at the same time in the three

(d)

- elections shall take place at the same time in the three (3) Area caucuses of delegates during the Triennial Convention. Each caucus will elect a delegate who is not running for an Area or Regional position to chair the election. The Board of Directors shall determine specific time during the Triennial Convention for Area and Regional elections.
- 3. (a) (i) Subject to Article VI, A, Section 3. (a) (ii), the term of of offices for the President and Secretary/Treasurer shall be for a three year term commencing on June 1st and ending three years thereafter on May 31st. The Triennial Convention shall continue to be held every two years in accordance with Article V, A, Section 1.
 - (ii) If the election of the President and/or the Secretary/ Treasurer is not completed prior to June 1st, the term of office for the respective Officer shall commence once the Chief Returning Officer has ruled the election process to be complete.
 - (b) The term of office for the General Vice President, the three (3) Area Vice Presidents, the three (3) Area
 Board Members and the nine (9) Regional Board members shall commence immediately after their election and shall serve until the next Triennial Convention or until their successors are elected.
 Term of office of Vice Presidents, Area & Regional Board members
- Subject to Article III 5. (c), Board Members referred to in Section

 (c) of this Article shall be elected at the regular Component
 Convention of their respective Components and shall serve until
 the next regular Component Convention or until their successors
 are elected. Board Members elected at the Component
 Conventions shall report back to the Component Convention
 at the next regular Convention, outlining their activities since
 they were elected.
- 5. The Regional Board Members and their alternates shall be elected from the Region and by the delegates of that Region at the Triennial Convention. The elected Board Members shall Board

Election

Regional

Members

Area &

Board

report back to the next Triennial Convention from which they were **members** elected, outlining their activities.

6.	Board	Memb	ers shall be elected by simple majority vote.	Simple Majority		
7.	Comp their a two (2 Comp	onent s lternate) electe	Service Component and the Hospital Support Staff shall be entitled to each elect two (2) members and es of the Board of Directors. At least one (1) of the ed in each Component shall be female. All other shall be entitled to elect one (1) member of the ectors.	GS, HSS Component Board members		
8.	Locals any Co intention shall b nomin vote b	Nominations				
9.	-	Subject to Article III, 3. (b), all nominees shall be active members n good standing of the Union.				
10.	(a)	(i)	If, between Conventions, any office of the Executive Committee, except that of President or Secretary/ Treasurer, becomes vacant, the alternate elected at NAPE's Convention shall fill the position.	Vacancy - Executive		
		(ii)	This shall apply to any office except those of Presider and Secretary/Treasurer, which shall be filled by a general membership vote.	nt		
	(b)	at Cor fill the	cases, other than Executive, alternates elected nponent and Triennial Conventions will automatically relevant vacancy on the Board should the elected per resign for any reason.	Alternates		
11.	(a)	expen positio	oard of Directors shall authorize necessary budgetary ditures for the hiring of full time and temporary staff ons as it may deem necessary to carry out the istration of the affairs of the Union.	Staff		
	(b)	shall h staff s	such authority has been provided, the President have the authority to hire, promote and dismiss ubject to the terms and conditions of the stive Agreement between NAPE and its staff.	Staff selection		

12.	Collect all main on be design to time the Un have I	Signing power	
13.		member of the Board of Directors shall be required to take ath of Office as prescribed in Appendix "A".	Oath of office
14.	The b Sectic Direct	Region boundaries	
15.	adequ for ea	oard of Directors shall be responsible for seeing that an late system of Local Officers and Shop Stewards is set up ch Local. The Board of Directors' obligations to the Locals nclude the following: conduct Triennial General elections of the Local;	Local Officers and Shop Stewards
	(b)	between Triennial Conventions, Local Officer training provided to each Area as per NAPE structure (Western, Central, Eastern);	
	(c)	between Triennial Conventions, Shop Steward training provided to all untrained Shop Stewards;	
	(d)	provide continuing support and guidance to the Locals to ensure compliance with the Constitution and policies of NAPE.	
16.	The Board of Directors may raise or borrow money for the purpose of the financial operations and may secure the repayment of it by mortgage or charge on the undertaking and the whole or any part of the assets and property of the Union, present or future, and may issue Bonds, Debentures or any other security whatsoever whether the foregoing kind or not, either charged upon the whole or any part of the assets and property of the Union or not so charged and the guarantee of the indebtedness of any organization of like objects or related to the Union shall be deemed to be borrowing by the Union.		Raise or borrow money

В.	Full Time Officers - President and Secretary/Treasurer				
1.	The President of the Union shall be the Chief Executive andPresidentFirst Administrative Officer of the Union.President				
2.	The Secretary/Treasurer of the Union shall perform duties as assigned by the President of the Union and shall assume the duties of the President of the Union in their absence.Duties of Sec/Treas.				
3.	The President of the Union and Secretary/Treasurer of the Benefits Union shall be full time positions and shall receive such remuneration and other benefits as may be set by Convention at the time of their elections.				
4.	(a)	In the event that the President takes a leave of absence for medical reasons, or for personal reasons approved by the Board of Directors, which is more than thirty (30) days, the Secretary/Treasurer shall perform the duties of the President until the President returns to Office. If the leave of absence is to be more than sixty (60) days or if afte a thirty (30) day leave of absence, the President is unable to advise the Executive Committee that they will be returning to office within the next thirty (30) days, the Secretary/Treasurer shall call a meeting of the Board of Directors upon ten (10) days notice for the purpose of filling the vacancy during the extended leave from among the Board of Directors. Should the Secretary/Treasurer be unable to act in this matter, members of the Board of Directors shall jointly perform the duty of electing a person to fill the vacancy during the President's leave of absence.	Leave of absence of President		
	(b)	In the event of a vacancy in the office of the President, as a result of the President's death, written confirmation of resignation or removal from office, the Secretary/Treasurer shall assume the Office of the President. Within fifteen (15) days of the date of their becoming aware of the vacancy, shall call a meeting of the Board of Directors upon ten (10) days' notice for the purpose of filling the vacancy in accordance with Article VI. A. 10 (a) (ii).	Vacancy in Office of President		
5.	(a)	In the event that the Secretary/Treasurer takes a leave of absence for medical reasons, or for personal reasons approved by the Board of Directors, which is more than thirty (30) days, the President and Board shall follow the procedure outlined in 4. (a) above.	Leave of absence Secretary/ Treasurer		

	(b)	In the event of a vacancy in the office of Secretary/ Treasurer as a result of the Secretary/Treasurer's death, written confirmation of resignation or removal from Office, the President and Board shall follow the procedure outlined in 4. (b) above.	Vacancy in office of Secretary/ Treasurer
6.		terms, references and conditions of employment shall be the Board of Directors.	Conditions
		ARTICLE VII - MEETINGS	
1.	and at	oard of Directors shall meet at least four (4) times annually such times and places as the members thereof determine, summoned by the President of the Union.	Board Meeting
2.	(a)	Special Meetings may be called by the President of the Union.	Board - Special Meetings
	(b)	Special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be called by the President of the Union if a notice in writing is given to the President of the Union by not less than one-third or more of the Board. Such a special meeting shall be held not less than fourteen (14) days after receipt of said notice.	meetings
	(c)	The President of the Union shall send notice to all mem- bers of the Board of Directors and only such business may be transacted at the special meetings as is named in the notice, except with the consent of three/quarters (3/4) of the Board Members present.	Business - Special Meeting
3.	Written notice of any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given not less than seven (7) days before such meeting, provided that no notice shall be necessary in the case of a meeting held immediately upon the adjournment of a Triennial Convention, and provided further, that meetings of the Board may be held without further formal notice if all the members are present or if those absent have signified their consent to such meetings or their consent to the business transacted thereat.		Notice
4.	meetir	for or omission in the content of any notice calling a ng of the Board of Directors shall affect the status h meetings or invalidate anything done or passed thereat.	Notice - Invalidated

5.	Fifty percent (50%) plus one (1) of existing Board Members shall constitute a quorum and no business shall be transacted unless a quorum is present.	Board - Quorum
6.	If a member of the Board of Directors fails to perform any of the duties assigned to them, the Board of Directors shall have the discretion to impose a penalty or have their position declared vacant.	Failure to perform duties
7.	The Chairperson of any meeting other than Convention shall be entitled to vote on any question; in the case of a tie vote, and the Chairperson has voted, the motion shalt be deemed lost. In the case of a tie vote, and the Chairperson has not voted, a second vote shall be held and the Chairperson shall be required to vote.	Chairperson
8.	The Board of Directors shall keep a record of their meetings and actions thereof and a copy of these meetings and actions shall be made available to a NAPE member upon request.	Minutes of meetings
	ARTICLE VIII - EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE	
1.	There shall be a Provincial Executive Committee (herein referred to as the Executive) consisting of the President of the Union, Secretary/Treasurer of the Union and Vice Presidents elected in accordance with Article VI.	Provincial Executive Committee
2.	The Executive Committee shall, in the interval between meetings of the Board of Directors, act on matters requiring urgent and special attention that are within the Union's policy and exercise such other powers of the Board as may be delegated to it by the Board.	Powers
3.	The Executive Committee shall meet at such times and places as the members thereof determine or as summoned by the President of the Union or when requested by a majority of the Committee. Meetings may be called on two (2) days' notice by letter, email or telephone, provided that meetings of the Committee may be held without formal notice if all members are present or if all give their consent to such meetings. A majority of members of the Executive Committee shall constitute a quorum.	Meetings - Quorum
4.	The Executive Committee shall keep a record of the meetings	Record

and actions thereof, and a copy of the minutes of every meeting

meetings

ARTICLE IX - ALLOWANCES

Mileage

Member

- An allowance sufficient to provide for accommodations and meals, at a per diem rate to be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors, plus actual traveling expenses and such other allowances as are approved by the Board of Directors may be paid to any member of the Union or any employee of the Union when traveling for the purpose of carrying out the business of the Union.
- 2. When a member of the Union or any employee of the Union uses their own vehicle while traveling on Union business, the Board may allow them a rate per mile for traveling expenses, which may be varied from time to time by the Board as conditions warrant, but damage to persons or property incurred to or by members of the Union or employees of the Union, shall not be the responsibility of the Union.
- 3. Regulations and amendments approved by the Board of Directors setting out the allowances and/or expenses payable under Section 1 of this Article, or Section 8 of Article X shall be subject to ratification by a majority vote at the Triennial Convention immediately following the date on which such regulations are approved by the Board.

ARTICLE X - FUNDS

- 1. The Board of Directors shall:
 - (a) be trustees of all funds of the Union and of all other **Trustees** assets of the Union, and shall administer them in accordance with the Constitution of the Union;
 - (b) arrange that all funds received by the Union shall, as soon as possible after receipts thereof, be deposited in a registered financial institution in the Province of Newfoundland and Labrador to the credit of the Union;
 - (c) invest any monies of the Union, not immediately Invest funds

required for any of its objects, in such manner as may from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors;

(d)	ensure that proper books of accounts are kept and appoint qualified Auditors who shall make an annual audit of all the books of accounts and financial statements of the Union and submit a report therein to the Board of Directors;	Auditors	
(e)	arrange the report of the annual audit of the books of accounts and financial statements be presented to the Triennial Convention immediately following the audit;	Audit reports	
(f)	furnish to all Locals in the Union copies of the audited financial statements and the Auditor's report;	Copy to Locals	
(g)	appoint the signing officers, one (1) of whom shall be the Union's Secretary/Treasurer, for withdrawal of funds of the Union and see that all Officers and all employees handling money are bonded.	Signing Officers	
The fig	scal year of the Union shall end on March 31 in each year.	Fiscal year	
No pa shall b budge Board Conve	Budget control		
Expenditures made from Union funds shall be only for the purpose of the Union, and in all cases shall be made by cheque signed by the Secretary/Treasurer of the Union and one (1) other authorized signing officer; or electronic payment. A Petty Cash Fund may be authorized by the Board of Directors from which expenditures can be made.			
The Union shall administer a Defense Fund in accordance Defense fu with Section 8 of this Article.			
This fund shall be funded in the main by:			
(a)	a per capita amount taken from the regular dues of the members;		
(h)	interest on the investment of the fund:		

(b) interest on the investment of the fund;

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

(c) contributions.

7.	The per capita-amount referred to in Section 6 shall be deter-	Per capita
	mined by the Triennial Convention.	

8. The Defense Fund shall be administered in accordance with regulations established by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XI - COMMITTEES

- 1. The Board of Directors shall elect all Standing and Special Election of Committees required for the general welfare of the Union. **Committees** Committees shall consist of no more than five (5) voting members. Other non-voting members may be added on the recommendation of the Committee and approved by the Executive. Retiring Committees of the Union shall continue in office until disbanded by the Board of Directors or until their successors are elected. The President of the Union shall be an ex-officio member of all Committees. There will be equal representation from all parts of the Island and Labrador for all Committees within NAPE. 2. The Board of Directors shall elect the following Standing Standing Committees which shall report to the Board as it deems **Committees** necessary: A Finance Committee, consisting of the Union's (a) Finance Secretary/Treasurer as Chairperson and four (4) other Committee members, at least two (2) of whom shall be members of the Board of Directors. This Committee shall have the general supervision over all the financial transactions to authorize payment on behalf of the Union and for the Board of Directors of routine expenses incurred in the normal conduct of the affairs of the Union, provided that these expenditures do not exceed the budgetary provisions therefore. The Committee shall prepare a budget each year of the proposed revenue and expenditure for the ensuing year for consideration and approval of the Board of Directors for transmission to the Triennial Convention. In any year in which a Triennial Convention is not held, the budget shall be presented to the Board of Directors for consideration and approval.
 - (b) An Education Committee, consisting of a Board Member Education as Chairperson, two other members of the Board of Committee

Directors and such other members as the Board may elect. The Committee shall be responsible for the education of members on:

- (i) structure;
- (ii) collective bargaining;
- (iii) labour relations.
- (c) A 2SLGBTQIA+ Committee, consisting of a Board Member **2SLGBTQIA+** as Chairperson and four (4) other members who **Committee** self-identify as 2SLGBTQIA+ or those who identify as an ally.

It is critical to show support to 2SLGBTQIA+ (Two-Spirit, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, Inter-sex, A-sexual) members within our Union, communities and across our Province. We must stand together against homophobia, transphobia and any kind of marginalization, shaming, disrespect or hate. Discriminatory speech or conduct that is sexist, transphobic, or homophobic will not be tolerated and our union must strive to reflect our commitment to equity and work to ensure there is justice in the workplace, society, and our union.

The Committee will work to advocate for the issues of 2SLGBTQIA+ people by:

- Raising awareness and bring forward issues affecting the 2SLGBTQIA+ community.
- Working with identified community groups to build stronger relationships between and 2SLGBTQIA+ community and our union.
- Working on creating educational opportunities for members on 2SLGBTQIA+ issues.
- Working on integrating 2SLGBTQIA+ issues into the work of our members, stewards, and activists.
- Connecting with a support 2SLGBTQIA+ members to support and encourage their participation in all union activities and promote the visibility of our 2SLGBTQIA+ members to foster allyship and solidarity within our union.
- (d) An Anti-Racism Committee, consisting of a Board member Anti-Racism as Chairperson and four (4) other members who self--identify as a Indigenous, Black or a racialized person.

Indigenous, Black, and racialized members continue to experience discrimination outside and within the Union. Our union must remain committed to fighting against racism and discrimination and putting anti-racist work at the heart of this commitment.

The Committee will work to address all forms of racism by:

- Working to ensure NAPE policies, procedures, functions, events, etc., are inclusive, welcoming, and free of all forms of racism.
- Working to establish resources and identify appropriate learning opportunities for members, Board of Directors, Staff, and all those serving within any capacity with the Union to develop and engage in anti-racism education.
- Working with identified community groups to optimize appropriate actions to be brought to the Board of Directors for consideration.
- Working to integrate anti-racism strategies into our organizing strategies.
- Working to create opportunities to learn from, and amplify the voices of Black, Indigenous and racialized members.
- Working towards meaningful truth and reconciliation within our Union and in society.
- (e) A Women's Issues Committee, consisting of four (4) Women's Board Members and one (1) rank and file member, which will be structured as follows: Committee

General Vice President Eastern Area Board Member Central Area Board Member Western Area Board Member Rank and file member (selected by the Board of Directors)

This Committee shall be responsible for providing the motivation necessary to get the female members of the Union actively involved in Union affairs.

(f)A Young Workers' Committee, consisting of a BoardYoungMember as Chairperson and four (4) other members.WorkersCommittee

The strength that young workers possess are an integral part of our Union, their Union. We need to strive to enhance the skills of young workers as activists, strengthen their leadership skills, protect, and advocate for their rights as workers and ensure the voices of our young workers are heard.

The mandate of the Young Workers' Committee will be:

- serve as a resource for the NAPE Executive and Board of Directors to ensure the concerns and interests of young workers are properly represented in the Union and the workplace;
- to critically analyze issues, policies, programs and legislation that affect young workers;
- to work with veteran trade unionists to ensure that young workers' perspectives are included in all aspects of their Union;
- to develop campaigns, events and activities that encourage young worker participation in the Union movement;
- to develop and recommend policies and constitutional amendments to the Executive and Board of Directors regarding young worker issues; and
 - to develop and have Young Workers' conferences.
- (g) A Pension Committee, consisting of a Board member as Chairperson and such other members as the Board may elect. This Committee shall be responsible for making recommendations to the Board on all matters relating to pensions, which affect members of the Union.
- (h) A Legislation Committee, consisting of a Board Member as Chairperson, and such other members as the Board may elect. This Committee shall be responsible for:
 - examining existing or proposed legislation relating to labour relations, and other matters affecting the welfare of the Union;
 - ii) making recommendations for the revision of existing legislation pertaining to matters referred to above.
- (i) A Health and Insurance Committee, the terms of reference Health and under which shall be contained in the Policy Manual of NAPE. Insurance Committee

OHS and Environment Committee

 initiating an occupational health and safety and environmental education program for NAPE members;

member and three (3) members as selected by the Board.

 encouraging occupational health and safety and environmental working Committees in NAPE supported workplaces;

Committee, consisting of at least one (1) Board

This Committee shall be responsible for:

(j)

- establishing occupational health and safety and environmental language for contracts;
- providing occupational health and safety and environmental guidelines for NAPE offices;
- drafting a set of occupational health and safety and environmental principles for NAPE; and
- supporting the Board of Directors in taking public positions on occupational health and safety and environmental issues.
- (k) A Constitution Committee consisting of a Board Member as Chairperson and such other members as the Board **Committee** may elect. This Committee shall be responsible for:
 - (i) making recommendations to the Board on all constitutional matters;
 - (ii) advising the Office of the President on the interpretation of the Constitution.
- 3. Other Standing Committees required for the general welfare of the Union may be appointed by the Board of Directors, and Special Committees may be appointed as occasions arise. The Chairperson of each Committee shall be from the Board of Directors; other members may be selected from the membership at large. These Committees shall be responsible in all respects to the Board and shall submit annual reports of their activities and such recommendations as they see fit to make to the Board or as the Board requires.
- For the purpose of arranging matters of the Triennial Trie Convention business, the Executive Committee may appoint temporary Committees, subject to the approval of the Board Dution of Directors.

Other Standing Committees

Triennial Convention Duties

ARTICLE XII - LOCALS

1.		ne Board of Directors may create a Local or may grant, members who apply, a charter to form a Local.		
2.	Local impos Local of Put	eadquarters of a Local shall be at such a place as the may fix (subject to any territorial limitations ed by the Board of Directors). The name of the shall be the Newfoundland and Labrador Association blic and Private Employees, Local Number as assigned Union.	Local Name Headquarters	
3.	Secreand T	rs of the Local may be President, Vice President, tary/Treasurer, or President, Vice President, Secretary reasurer, or such other Officers as are approved by pard of Directors of the Union.	Officers	
4.	•	rum at meetings shall be determined by each Local nall be included in its by-laws.	Quorum	
5.	that th Union	Each Local may operate under its own By-Laws, provided that they shall be consistent with the Constitution of the Inion. The By-Laws of the individual Locals must be pproved by the Executive Committee before adoption by the ocals.		
6.	A Local shall not make representation to the Government, a Minister or Deputy Minister without first obtaining permission from the Board.		Local representa- tion to Employer	
7.	The Triennial General meeting of a Local shall be held within the same calendar year, but not less than ninety (90) days prior to the Triennial Convention, and the following business shall be transacted:		Local Triennial Meeting	
	(a)	Local Officers' Reports;		
	(b)	Treasurer's Report;		
	(c)	Auditor's Report;		

- (d) Committee Chairperson's Reports;
- (e) Election of Officers, Shop Stewards, and Committee members;
 - (i) Elected members shall serve until the next Triennial General meeting of the Local.
- (f) Election of delegates to the Triennial Convention;

	(g)	Nominations to the Board of Directors;	
	(h)	Resolutions to the Triennial Convention.	
8.	Union Trienr of the April o	Local shall receive a portion of the annual dues to the , the amount shall be fixed from time to time by the nial Convention. These funds are considered the property Local and shall be sent to the Local on the first day of of each year, providing they have submitted an audited cial statement for the previous year.	Portion of dues
9.	Secre list of Treas of dele if any,	st sixty (60) days prior to the Triennial Convention the stary of each Local shall forward to the Headquarters a Officers, copies of Officers' annual reports, the Local urer's report, a copy of the audited statements, list egate(s) to the Triennial Convention, list of nominations, to the Board of Directors, and resolutions to the hial Convention.	Local reports
10.	the Ex at its of aims of entitle affairs been	Board of Directors may suspend and remove from office executive, or any member of the Executive of any Local discretion for non-activity or inconsistencies with the or Constitution of the Union, and such members shall be ed to a fair and impartial hearing before the Board. The s, assets and liabilities of any Local whose Executive has removed from office shall become the responsibility of the I of Directors.	Remove from Office
11.	a Loca matte	Inion shall not be responsible for any debts incurred by al or any claims made against it unless the particular r in respect of which the debt or claim arose has ously received the written approval of the Board of Directors.	Union not responsible for Local's Debts
12.	•	y of the minutes of all meetings, immediately upon their ion, shall be forwarded to the Office of the President of nion.	Minutes of meeting
13.	affiliat	d a Local send a delegate(s) to a Convention of an ted organization, the Local shall be financially responsible e expenses of the delegate(s).	Additional delegates - Affiliated Organizations
14.	The fi	scal year of the Local shall end on December 31st.	Fiscal year of Local
15.	and w institu of the	event that a Local of the Union becomes inoperative where there are Local funds deposited in a financial tion in the name of the Local, the Secretary/Treasurer Union is constitutionally empowered to transfer such into the account of the Union.	Inoperative Local

ARTICLE XIII - GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. Affiliations

The Union shall only affiliate or disaffiliate with any organization as a result of a majority vote cast by a secret ballot at a duly constituted Convention other than a Component Convention.

2. Conduct of Meetings

The rules of procedure governing meetings of the UnionBourinot'sin Convention, meetings of the Board of Directors, and theRules ofExecutive Committee shall be those contained in Bourinot'sOrderRules of Order, except as otherwise provided in this Constitution.Order

3. Winding Up of the Union

Every member of the Union undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Union in the event of same being wound up during the time that they are a member, or within one (1) year afterwards, for payment of the debts and liabilities of the Union contracted before the time at which they ceased to be a member, and of costs, charges, and expenses of winding up the same, and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributories amongst themselves, such amount as may be required not exceeding one dollar (\$1.00), or in the case of their liability becoming unlimited, such other amount as may be required.

If upon the winding up or dissolution of the Union, there remains after the satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities any property whatsoever, the same shall be paid to or distributed among the members of the Union, or may be given or transferred to some other institution(s) having objects similar to the objects of the Union, to be terminated by the members of the Union at or before the time of dissolution, or in default thereof by a Judge of the Supreme Court.

4. In this Constitution, the plural shall indicate the singular and vice versa as the content may require.

ARTICLE XIV - AMENDMENTS

 Amendments to this Constitution shall be adopted by a twothirds (2/3) majority vote by the Union meeting in Convention. The amendments shall come into full force and effect immediately upon adoption or as otherwise decided by Convention.

Effective Date

Affiliations.

Secret Vote

2.	Notices of intended amendments shall be given in writing to the President of the Union at least sixty (60) days previous to the Convention at which the amendments are to be voted upon. Such notice shall set forth the Article and the section proposed to be amended, together with the proposed amendment.	Notice of amendment
3.	Copies of all proposed amendments to the Constitution shall be forwarded to the Locals and posted on the Union website at least thirty (30) days before the date of the Convention at which the amendments will be presented.	Amendments to Locals
4.	Notwithstanding the above provisions of this Article, the Board of Directors shall be empowered to make accommodating amendments to Articles of the Constitution when a Triennial Convention amends an Article and inadvertently omits a necessary accommodating amendment to another Article.	Accommo- dating Amendments

APPENDIX A- OATH OF OFFICE

To be sworn or affirmed by the Provincial Executive, Board of Directors, Local representatives and all persons elected or serving in a position on behalf of the Newfoundland and Labrador Association of Public and Private Employees (NAPE).

I ______ do pledge to perform the duties truly and faithfully on behalf of the Newfoundland and Labrador Association of Public and Private Employees in the position I hold.

I will promote equality, diversity and inclusion and work in the interest of my Union and its whole membership in carrying out the work of my Union.

I will uphold the Constitution, policies and principles of my Union.

I will, when able to do so, attend all meetings related to the position I hold.

Signed

Date

I acknowledge having read, dated and signed: